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   1,953,931    19     6,883     �      �      6,902  
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BALANCE, December 31, 2011

   2,449,648    24     292,730     37    (216,107)   76,684    

Net Loss

   �      �       �       �      (63,984)   (63,984) 

Stock-based compensation (Note 13)

   �      �       379     �       379  

BALANCE, December 31, 2012

   2,449,648    24     293,109     37    (280,091)   13,079    
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Net Income

   �      �       �       �      1,408    1,408  

Stock-based compensation (Note 13)

   20,000    1     344     �      �      345  

Other comprehensive income

   �      �       �       (37)   �      (37)   
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BALANCE, December 31, 2013

   2,469,648    25     293,453     �      (278,683)   14,795    
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TOP SHIPS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2012 AND 2013

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars)

2011 2012 2013
Cash Flows provided by Operating Activities:
Net (loss)/income (189,112) (63,984) 1,408
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss)/income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation 27,156 12,510 6,763
Amortization and write off of deferred financing costs 2,234 1,437 1,815
Amortization of debt discount 3,965 371 �  
Translation gain of foreign currency denominated loan (294) 70 �  
Provision for service leaving indemnities (37) 
Stock-based compensation expense 1,412 378 345
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments (Note 18) (2,835) (2,656) (2,313) 
Loss on sale of other fixed assets 81 178 3
Loss/(Gain) on sale of vessels 62,543 �  (14) 
(Gain) on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 19) �  �  (1,591) 
Vessels impairment charge 114,674 61,484 �  
Provision for doubtful accounts �  256 �  
Increase (Decrease) in:
Trade accounts receivable (2,189) 1,281 384
Deferred vessel lease payments 543 �  �  
Insurance claims (876) 4 �  
Inventories 660 �  �  
Advances to various creditors (57) 105 9
Prepayments and other 632 462 571
Due from related parties (74) 74 �  
Other long term receivable (1,841) 1,841 �  
Increase (Decrease) in:
Due to related parties (234) 587 (1,343) 
Accounts payable 2,473 (4,426) (1,650) 
Other non-current liabilities �  4,706 (800) 
Accrued liabilities (75) (136) 68
Unearned revenue (3,007) 587 (548) 
Net Cash provided by Operating Activities 15,779 15,129 3,070
Cash Flows provided by Investing Activities:
Advances for vessels under construction (Note 5) �  �  (14,400) 
Insurance claims recoveries 872 �  �  
Decrease in restricted cash 6,158 5,949 2,563
Net proceeds from sale of vessels (Note 4) 118,220 �  25,214
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Net proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries (Note 19) �  �  37,552
Net proceeds from sale of other fixed assets 35 60 65
Acquisition of other fixed assets (356) (7) �  
Net Cash provided by Investing Activities 124,929 6,002 50,994
Cash Flows used in Financing Activities:
Proceeds from convertible debt 2,000 �  �  
Proceeds from debt 2,782 500 �  
Principal payments of debt (27,637) (16,656) (11,120) 
Prepayment of debt (124,000) (4,975) (30,326) 
Derivative financial instrument termination payments (364) �  �  
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs 6,833 �  �  
Payment of financing costs (616) �  (2,837) 
Net Cash used in Financing Activities (141,002) (21,131) (44,283) 
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (294) �  9,781
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year �  �  �  
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 294 �  (75) 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year �  �  9,706
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Interest paid net of capitalized interest 10,180 6,837 5,621
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Basis of Presentation and General Information:

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Top Ships Inc. (formerly Top Tankers
Inc. and Ocean Holdings Inc.) and its wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively the �Company�). Ocean Holdings Inc.
was formed on January 10, 2000, under the laws of Marshall Islands, was renamed to Top Tankers Inc. and Top Ships
Inc. in May 2004 and December 2007 respectively.

Top Ships Inc. is the sole owner of all outstanding shares of the following subsidiary companies as of December 31,
2013. The following list is not exhaustive as the Company has other subsidiaries relating to vessels that have been
sold.

Companies

Date of

Incorporation

Country of

Incorporation Activity
1 TOP Tanker Management Inc. May 2004 Marshall Islands Management Company
2 Lyndon International Co. October 2013 Marshall Islands Dormant Company
During 2011, 2012 and 2013 the company was the sole owner of all outstanding shares of the following subsidiary
shipowning companies:

Shipowning Companies with vessels

in operations during year ended

December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013

Date of

Incorporation

Country of

Incorporation Vessel
1 Jeke Shipping Company Limited

(�Jeke�)
July 2007 Liberia Evian (acquired February 2008,

sold October 2013) (Note 4)
2 Warhol Shipping Company Limited

(�Warhol�)
July 2008 Liberia Miss Marilena (delivered February

2009, sold October 2013) (Note 4)
3 Lichtenstein Shipping Company

Limited (�Lichtenstein�)
July 2008 Liberia Lichtenstein (delivered February

2009, sold October 2013) (Note 4)
4 Indiana R Shipping Company

Limited (�Indiana R�)
July 2008 Liberia UACC Shams (delivered March

2009, sold October 2013) (Note 4)
5 Britto Shipping Company Limited

(�Britto�)
July 2008 Liberia Britto (delivered May 2009, sold

October 2013) (Note 4)
6 Hongbo Shipping Company Limited

(�Hongbo�)
July 2008 Liberia Hongbo (delivered August 2009,

sold October 2013) (Note 4)
7 Banksy Shipping Company Limited

(�Banksy�)
July 2008 Liberia UACC Sila (delivered March 2009 ,

sold April 2013) (Note 4)
8 Ilisos Shipping Company Limited

(�Ilisos�)
April 2005 Marshall Islands Ioannis P (acquired November

2005, sold November 2011)
9 Amalfi Shipping Company Limited

(�Amalfi�)
July 2007 Marshall Islands Amalfi (acquired December 2007,

sold August 2011)
10 Japan I Shipping Company Limited

(�Japan I�)
August 2007 Liberia Pepito (acquired March 2008, sold

December 2011)
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11 Japan II Shipping Company Limited
(�Japan II�)

August 2007 Liberia Astrale (acquired May 2008, sold
July 2011)

12 Japan III Shipping Company Limited
(�Japan III�)

August 2007 Liberia Cyclades (acquired December
2007, sold November 2011)

Shipowning Companies with vessels
under lease during 2011

Date of
Incorporation

Country of
Incorporation Vessel

13 Mytikas Shipping Company Limited
(�Mytikas�)

February 2004 Marshall Islands Delos (lease started October, 1,
2010, lease terminated
October 2011)
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The Company is an international provider of worldwide seaborne crude oil and petroleum products transportation
services and of drybulk transportation services.

On April 21, 2014, the Company effected a 1-for-7 reverse stock split of its common stock. There was no change in
the number of authorized common shares of the Company. All share and per share amounts in these financial
statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect this stock split. As a result of the reverse stock split, the number
of outstanding shares as of December 31, 2013 decreased to 2,469,648 while the par value of the Company�s common
shares remained unchanged at $0.01 per share (Note 12).

On October 16, 2013 the Company sold the shipowning subsidiaries which owned the six vessels of the Company�s
fleet (namely M/Ts Miss Marilena, Lichtenstein, UACC Shams, Britto, Hongbo and M/V Evian) to an affiliate of the
AMCI Poseidon Fund LP, an unrelated party (see Note 19). Following this sale the Company does not own any
operating vessels.

During 2011, 2012, and 2013, five, three and three charterers individually accounted for more than 10% of the
Company�s revenues as follows:

Charterer Year Ended December 31,
2011 2012 2013

A 11% �  �  
B �  �  �  
C 20% 51% 63% 
D 12% �  �  
E 12% �  �  
F 13% �  �  
G �  21% 18% 
H �  17% 18% 

Management of Company Vessels

As of December 31 2013, the Company had outsourced to Central Mare Inc. (�Central Mare�), a related party controlled
by the family of the Company�s Chief Executive Officer, all operational, technical and commercial functions relating
to the chartering and operation of the Company�s vessels. The Company outsourced the above functions pursuant to a
letter agreement concluded between Central Mare and the Company and management agreements concluded between
Central Mare and the Company�s vessel-owning subsidiaries on July 1, 2010. Furthermore, the letter agreement
provided for the provision of services in connection with compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, services rendered in relation to the Company�s maintenance of proper books and records, services in relation to
the financial reporting requirements of the Company under Commission and NASDAQ rules and regulations and
information-system related services (see Note 7).

In relation to the vessel M/T Delos in 2010 the Company had outsourced technical management and crewing to Titan
Owning Company Ltd (�TMS Tankers�), whereas operational monitoring of the vessel was outsourced to Central Mare,
a related party, both agreements were effective from October 1, 2010. On June 1, 2011 the Company transferred the
full management of M/T Delos to International Ship Management Inc., a related party (Note 7) up to the date of the
vessels lease termination on October 15, 2011.
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As of December 31, 2012 and 2013 the net amount due to Central Mare was $2,150 and $807 respectively and is
included in Due to related parties, which are separately presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
(Note 7).
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Management fees paid to related parties and management fees paid to third parties are presented separately in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and are summarized as follows:

For the year ended
December 31,

2011
December 31,

2012
December 31,

2013
Management Fees�Related Parties (Note
7)
Central Mare Inc 5,575 2,345 1,351
International Shipmanagement Inc 155 �  �  
Total 5,730 2,345 1,351
Management Fees�Third Parties
ST Shipping and Transport Pte. Limited 10 �  �  
TMS Tankers 384 �  �  
Heidmar Inc 45 �  �  
Total 439 �  �  

2. Significant Accounting Policies:

(a) Principles of Consolidation: The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles (�U.S GAAP�) and include the accounts and
operating results of Top Ships Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries referred to in Note 1. Intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

(b) Use of Estimates: The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP generally
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates. Critical estimates mainly include impairment of vessels, vessel useful
lives and residual values, provision for doubtful accounts and fair values of derivative instruments.

(c) Foreign Currency Translation: The Company�s functional currency is the U.S. Dollar because all vessels operate
in international shipping markets, and therefore primarily transact business in U.S. Dollars. The Company�s books
of accounts are maintained in U.S. Dollars. Transactions involving other currencies during the year are converted
into U.S. Dollars using the exchange rates in effect at the time of the transactions. At the balance sheet dates,
monetary assets and liabilities, which are denominated in other currencies are translated to U.S. Dollars based on
the year-end exchange rates. Losses from foreign currency translation amounted to $48 and $0 for the years
ended December 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively and are reflected in General and administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statement of comprehensive income/(loss).

(d)
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Cash and Cash Equivalents: The Company considers highly liquid investments such as time deposits and
certificates of deposit with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

(e) Restricted Cash: The Company considers amounts that are pledged, blocked, held as cash collateral, required to
be maintained with a specific bank or be maintained by the Company as an overall cash position as part of a loan
agreement, as restricted and these amounts are presented separately on the balance sheets (Note 18).
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(f) Trade Accounts Receivable, net: The amount shown as Trade Accounts Receivable, net at each balance sheet
date, includes estimated recoveries from charterers for hire, freight and demurrage billings, net of a provision for
doubtful accounts. At each balance sheet date, all potentially uncollectible accounts are assessed individually,
combined with the application of a historical recoverability ratio, for purposes of determining the appropriate
provision for doubtful accounts. Provision for doubtful accounts at December 31, 2012 and 2013 totaled $576
and $574 respectively, and is summarized as follows:

Provision
for doubtful
accounts

Balance, December 31, 2011 1,187

�Additions 20
�Reversals / write-offs (631) 
Balance, December 31, 2012 576

�Additions 18
�Reversals / write-offs (20) 
Balance, December 31, 2013 574

(g) Insurance Claims: Insurance claims, relating mainly to crew medical expenses and hull and machinery incidents
are recorded upon collection or agreement with the relevant party of the collectible amount when collectability is
probable.

(h) Inventories: Inventories consist of bunkers, lubricants and consumable stores which are stated at the lower of
cost or market. Cost, which consists of the purchase price, is determined by the first in, first out method.

(i) Vessel Cost: Vessels are stated at cost, which consists of the contract price, pre-delivery costs incurred during the
construction of new buildings, capitalized interest and any material expenses incurred upon acquisition
(improvements and delivery costs). Subsequent expenditures for conversions and major improvements are also
capitalized when they appreciably extend the life, increase the earning capacity or improve the efficiency or
safety of the vessels. Repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred and are included in Vessel
operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of comprehensive income/(loss).

(j) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: The Company reviews its long-lived assets held and used for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be
recoverable. When the estimate of undiscounted cash flows, excluding interest charges, expected to be generated
by the use of the asset is less than its carrying amount, the Company evaluates the asset for an impairment loss.
Measurement of the impairment loss is based on the fair value of the asset. In this respect, management regularly
reviews the carrying amount of the vessels in connection with the estimated recoverable amount for each of the
Company�s vessels (Notes 4 and 6).
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(k) Vessel Depreciation: Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of
the vessels, after deducting the estimated salvage value. Each vessel�s salvage value is equal to the product of its
lightweight tonnage and estimated scrap rate. Management estimates the useful life of the Company�s vessels to
be 25 years from the date of initial delivery from the shipyard. Second hand vessels are depreciated from the date
of their acquisition through their remaining estimated useful life. When regulations place limitations over the
ability of a vessel to trade on a worldwide basis, its useful life is adjusted at the date such regulations are adopted.

(l) Long Lived Assets held for sale and discontinued operations: The Company classifies vessels as being held for
sale when the following criteria are met: (a) Management, having the authority to approve the action, commits to
a plan to sell the asset, (b) The asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms
that are usual and customary for sales of such assets, (c) An active program to locate a buyer and other actions
required to complete the plan to sell the asset have been initiated, (d) The

F-28

Edgar Filing: HILLENBRAND DANIEL C. - Form 4

Table of Contents 16



Table of Contents

sale of the asset is probable and transfer of the asset is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale,
within one year, (e) The asset is being actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its
current fair value, (f) Actions required to complete the plan indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to
the plan will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn.

Long-lived assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less costs
to sell. These vessels are not depreciated once they meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale (Note 6). The
results of operations of a component that either has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale, are reported in
discontinued operations if both of the following conditions are met: (a) the operations and cash flows of the
component have been (or will be) eliminated from the ongoing operations of the Company as a result of the disposal
transaction and (b) the entity will not have any significant continuing involvement in the operations of the component
after the disposal transaction (Note 6).

Long-lived assets previously classified as held for sale that are classified as held and used are revalued at the lower of
(i) the carrying amount of the asset before it was classified as held for sale, adjusted for any depreciation expense that
would have been recognized had the asset been continuously classified as held and used and (ii) the fair value of the
asset at the date that the Company decided not to sell the asset (Note 18).

(m) Other Fixed Assets, Net: Net other fixed assets consist of furniture, office equipment, cars and leasehold
improvements, stated at cost, which consists of the purchase / contract price less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the assets, while
leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lease term, as presented below:

Description Useful Life (years)
Leasehold improvements Until the end of the lease term (December 2024)
Cars 6
Office equipment 5
Furniture and fittings 5
Computer equipment 3

(n) Accounting for Dry-Docking Costs: All dry-docking costs are accounted for under the direct expense method,
under which they are expensed as incurred and are reflected separately in the accompanying consolidated
statements of comprehensive income/(loss).

(o) Financing Costs: Fees incurred and paid to the lenders for obtaining new loans or refinancing existing ones are
recorded as a contra to debt and such fees are amortized to interest expense over the life of the related debt using
the effective interest method. Unamortized fees relating to loans repaid or refinanced are expensed when a
repayment or refinancing is made and charged to interest and finance costs.

(p) Convertible Debt: The Company evaluates debt securities (�Debt�) for beneficial conversion features. A beneficial
conversion feature is present when the conversion price per share is less than the market value of the common
stock at the commitment date. The intrinsic value of the feature is then measured as the difference between the
conversion price and the market value multiplied by the number of shares into which the Debt is convertible and
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is recorded as debt discount with an offsetting amount increasing additional paid-in-capital. The debt discount is
accreted to interest expense over the term of the Debt with any unamortized discount recognized as interest
expense upon conversion of the Debt. The total intrinsic value of the feature is limited to the proceeds allocated
to the Debt instrument. On August 15, 2012 the conversion feature of our bridge loans with Laurasia was
terminated and as of December 31, 2013 the Company has no convertible short or long term debt.

(q) Pension and Retirement Benefit Obligations�Crew: The ship-owning companies included in the consolidation
employ the crew on board under short-term contracts (usually up to nine months) and accordingly, they are not
liable for any pension or post retirement benefits.

(r) Staff leaving Indemnities�Administrative personnel: The Company�s employees are entitled to termination
payments in the event of dismissal or retirement with the amount of payment varying in relation
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to the employee�s compensation, length of service and manner of termination (dismissed or retired).
Employees who resign, or are dismissed with cause are not entitled to termination payments. The
Company�s liability at December 31, 2012 and 2013 amounted to $11 and $4 respectively.

(s) Accounting for Revenue and Expenses: Revenues are generated from bareboat charter, time charter, voyage
charter agreements and pool arrangements. A bareboat charter is a contract in which the vessel owner provides
the vessel to the charterer for a fixed period of time at a specified daily rate, which is generally payable monthly
in advance, and the customer generally assumes all risks and costs of operation during the charter term. A time
charter is a contract for the use of a vessel for a specific period of time and a specified daily charter hire rate,
which is generally payable monthly in advance. Profit sharing represents the excess between an agreed daily base
rate and the actual rate generated by the vessel every quarter, if any, and is settled and recorded on a quarterly
basis. Under a voyage charter, revenue, including demurrage and associated voyage costs, with the exception of
port expenses which are recorded as incurred, are recognized on a proportionate performance method over the
duration of the voyage. A voyage is deemed to commence upon the latest between the completion of discharge of
the vessel�s previous cargo and the charter party date of the current voyage and is deemed to end upon the
completion of discharge of the current cargo. Demurrage income represents payments by the charterer to the
Company when loading or discharging time exceeded the stipulated time in the voyage charter. Vessel operating
expenses are expensed as incurred. Unearned revenue represents cash received prior to year-end related to
revenue applicable to periods after December 31 of each year. Under a pool arrangement, the pool charters-in a
vessel on a time charter basis but the daily charter hire is not fixed but it depends on the total return that the pool
is able to achieve by operating all its vessels in the spot market.

When vessels are acquired with time charters attached and the rates on such charters are below market on the
acquisition date, the Company allocates the total cost between the vessel and the fair value of below market time
charter based on the relative fair values of the vessel and the liability acquired. The fair value of the attached time
charter is computed as the present value of the difference between the contractual amount to be received over the term
of the time charter and management�s estimates of the market time charter rate at the time of acquisition. The fair value
of below market time charter is amortized over the remaining period of the time charter as an increase to revenues.

The Company pays commissions to ship brokers associated with arranging our charters. The commissions that the
Company pays range from 1.25% to 3.10% of the total daily charter hire rate of each charter. Commissions are paid
by the Company and are recognized over the related charter period and included in voyage expenses.

(t) Stock Incentive Plan: All share-based compensation related to the grant of restricted and/or unrestricted shares
provided to employees and to non-employee directors, for their services as directors, is included in General and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income/(loss). The shares that do not
contain any future service vesting conditions are considered vested shares and recognized in full on the grant
date. The shares that contain a time-based service vesting condition are considered non-vested shares on the grant
date and recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. The shares, vested and non-vested are
measured at fair value, which is equal to the market value of the Company�s common stock on the grant date.
Compensation cost for awards with graded vesting is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service
period for each separately vesting portion of the award as if the award was, in-substance, multiple awards.

(u) Earnings / (Loss) per Share: Basic earnings/(loss) per share are computed by dividing net income or loss
available to common stockholders� by the weighted average number of common shares deemed outstanding
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during the year. Diluted earnings/(loss) per share reflect the potential dilution that could occur if securities or
other contracts to issue common stock were exercised. For purposes of calculating diluted earnings per share the
denominator of the diluted earnings per share calculation includes the incremental shares assumed issued under
the treasury stock method weighted for the period the non-vested shares were outstanding, with the exception of
the 21,034 shares, granted to the Company�s CEO, which will vest in the event of change
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of control. Consequently, those shares are excluded from the remaining non-vested shares (Note 14). The dilutive
effect of convertible debt outstanding shall be reflected in diluted EPS by application of the if-converted method.
In applying the if-converted method, conversion shall not be assumed for purposes of computing diluted EPS if
the effect would be antidilutive.

(v) Related Parties: The Company considers as related parties: the affiliates of the Company; entities for which
investments are accounted for by the equity method; principal owners of the Company; its management; members
of the immediate families of principal owners of the Company; and other parties with which the Company may
deal if one party controls or can significantly influence the management or operating policies of the other to an
extent that one of the transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own separate interests.
Another party also is a related party if it can significantly influence the management or operating policies of the
transacting parties and can significantly influence the other to an extent that one or more of the transacting parties
might be prevented from fully pursuing its own separate interests. An Affiliate is a party that, directly or
indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or has common control with the
Company. Control is the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the
management and policies of an enterprise through ownership, by contract and otherwise. Immediate Family is
family members whom a principal owner or a member of management might control or influence or by whom
they might be controlled or influenced because of the family relationship. Management is the persons who are
responsible for achieving the objectives of the Company and who have the authority to establish policies and
make decisions by which those objectives are to be pursued. Management normally includes members of the
board of directors, the CEO, the CFO, Vice President and CTO in charge of principal business functions and
other persons who perform similar policy making functions. Persons without formal titles may also be members
of management. Principal owners are owners of record or known beneficial owners of more than 10% of the
voting interests of the Company.

(w) Derivatives and Hedging: The Company records every derivative instrument (including certain derivative
instruments embedded in other contracts) in the balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured at its fair
value, with changes in the derivatives� fair value recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge
accounting criteria are met. The Company has not applied hedge accounting for its derivative instruments during
the periods presented.

The fair value of derivative liabilities was not adjusted for nonperformance risk as the Company, as one of the parties
to a derivative transaction expects to be able to perform under the contractual terms of its derivative agreements, such
as making cash payments at periodic net settlement dates or upon termination.

(x) Financial instruments: Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at �fair value through the
profit and loss� (�FVTPL�) or �other financial liabilities�. Financial instruments classified as FVTPL are recognized at
fair value in the balance sheet when the Company has an obligation to perform under the contractual provisions
of those instruments. Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangement. Changes in the financial instruments are recognized in earnings. Other financial
liabilities (including borrowings and trade and other payables) are subsequently measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest rate method.

(y) Recent Accounting Pronouncements
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There are no recent accounting pronouncements issued during 2013 whose adoption would have a material effect on
the Company�s consolidated financial statements in the current year or expected to have an impact on future years.

(z) Segment Reporting: The Chief Operating Decision Marker (�CODM�) receives financial information and evaluates
the Company�s operations by charter revenues and not by the length, type of vessel or type of ship employment
for its customers (i.e. time or bareboat charters) or by geographical region as the charterer is free to trade the
vessel worldwide and as a result, the disclosure of geographic information is impracticable. The CODM does not
use discrete financial information to evaluate the operating results for each such type of charter or vessel.
Although revenue can be identified for these types of charters or vessels, management cannot and does not
identify expenses, profitability or other financial information for these various types of
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charters or vessels. As a result, management, including the chief operating decision maker, reviews operating
results solely by revenue per day and operating results of the fleet, and thus the Company has determined that it
operates as one reportable segment.

3. Going Concern:
As of December 31, 2012, the Company was in breach of loan covenants with certain banks relating to EBITDA,
overall cash position (minimum liquidity covenants), adjusted net worth, book equity and asset cover. As a result of
these covenant breaches and due to cross default provisions contained in all of the Company�s bank facilities, the
Company was in breach of all its loan facilities and has classified all its debt and derivative financial instruments as
current. The amount of long term debt and derivative financial instruments that have been reclassified and presented
together with current liabilities amount to $172,619 and $5,811 respectively (Note 10). As of December 31, 2013 the
Company had no indebtedness, since all the debt facilities were either fully repaid or transferred to the buyer of the
Company�s shipowning companies (see Note 10 and 19).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going
concern. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the
recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts, the amounts and classification of liabilities, or any other
adjustments that might result should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.

4. Vessels, net:
The amounts in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are analyzed as follows:

Vessel
Cost

Accumulated
Depreciation

Net Book
Value

Balance, December 31, 2011 296,107 (31,087) 265,020
�Reclassified from vessel held for sale 10,414 �  10,414
�Depreciation �  (11,458) (11,458) 
�Impairment (104,029) 42,545 (61,484) 
�Vessel held for sale (25,200) �  (25,200) 
Balance, December 31, 2012 177,292 �  177,292
�Depreciation �  (6,429) (6,429) 
�Disposals (177,292) 6,429 (170,863) 
Balance, December 31, 2013 �  �  �  

During 2012, vessel oversupply decreased charter rates and further decreased vessel values. These were conditions
that the Company considered to be indicators of potential impairment for its vessels. In December 2012, the Company
tested the M/T Miss Marilena, M/T Lichtenstein, M/T UACC Shams, M/T Britto and M/T Hongbo for impairment
and assigned a medium probability to sell them. This assumption together with the deteriorating charter rates
significantly reduced the probability weighted undiscounted expected cash flows, which were determined to be lower
than the vessels carrying values. Consequently, the Company wrote the vessels down to their fair values and
recognized an impairment charge of $46,592 (see Note 18).

In December 2012 the Company reclassified the M/V Evian as held and used resulting from its assessment that the
vessel would not be sold and that it would continue to earn revenue within the following year and measured the vessel
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at its fair value, resulting in a write-up of $2,086 (see Note 18).

In December 2012 the Company classified the M/T UACC Sila as held for sale and wrote the vessel down to fair
value less costs to sell, resulting in an impairment charge of $16,978 (see Note 6). The vessel was sold on March 27,
2013 to an unrelated third party for a price of $26,000. The vessel was delivered to its new owners on April 30, 2013.
A gain of $14 was recognized upon vessel�s delivery, which is included in the Company�s consolidated statement of
comprehensive income/ (loss).
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In October 2013 the Company sold the shipowning companies of the M/Ts Miss Marilena, Lichtenstein, UACC
Shams, Britto, Hongbo and M/V Evian to an affiliate of the AMCI Poseidon Fund LP (see Note 19).

5. Advances for Vessels Acquisitions / Under Construction:
On December 5, 2013, the Company agreed to acquire a 39,000 dwt ECO-type newbuilding product/chemical tanker
with a time charter attached from an entity affiliated with the Company�s President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director, Evangelos J. Pistiolis. The newbuilding is scheduled for delivery from Hyundai Mipo Dockyard Co., Ltd. in
the third quarter of 2015. The purchase price of the newbuilding is $35,000, and is payable as follows: 20% as an
initial deposit and 80% on delivery of the vessel. The Company is under discussions with a number of banks regarding
the financing of the vessel. The initial deposit was paid in two installments, the first on December 5, 2013 and the
second on December 19, 2013 bringing the total to $7,000 which is included in Advances for vessels acquisitions /
under construction, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

On December 16, 2013, the Company agreed to acquire a 50,000 dwt ECO-type newbuilding product/chemical tanker
with a time charter attached from an entity affiliated with the Company�s President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director, Evangelos J. Pistiolis. The newbuilding is scheduled for delivery from Hyundai Mipo Dockyard Co., Ltd. in
the first quarter of 2015. Upon its delivery the vessel will enter into a time charter with a high quality charterer for 2
years at a rate of $16,000 per day. The charterer has the option to extend the charter for an additional year at a rate of
$17,250 per day. The purchase price of the newbuilding is $37,000, and is payable as follows: 20% as an initial
deposit and 80% on delivery of the vessel. The Company is under discussions with a number of banks regarding the
financing of the vessel. The initial deposit was paid in two installments, the first on December 16, 2013 and the
second on December 19, 2013 bringing the total to $7,400 and it is also included in Advances for vessels acquisitions
/ under construction, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

6. Assets Held for Sale:
As of December 31, 2012, the M/T UACC Sila met the criteria to be classified as held for sale. Consequently the
Company treated the vessel as held for sale and classified it as a short term asset measured at the lower of the carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell as determined by the Company and supported by an unrelated third party offer
to buy the vessel. The related loan was also classified as short term in a separate balance sheet line from other short
term debt. Furthermore, the Company recognized an impairment charge of $16,978 to reduce the carrying value to the
fair value less costs to sell that is included in the accompanying statements of consolidated income/ (loss). The
Company sold the vessel to an unrelated party on April 30, 2013 for $26,000.

7. Transactions with Related Parties:

(a) Pyramis Technical Co. S.A.: Pyramis Technical Co. S.A. is wholly owned by the father of the Company�s Chief
Executive Officer and has been responsible for the renovation of the Company�s premises. From January 2006 up
to December 31, 2013 Euro 3,741 or $4,937 has been paid and relative leasehold improvements with a carrying
value of $493 are included in renovation works which are included in �Other fixed assets, net�, that are separately
presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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(b) Central Mare Inc. (�Central Mare�)�Letter Agreement and Management Agreements: On May 12, 2010, the
Company�s Board of Directors agreed to outsource all of the commercial and technical management of the
Company�s vessels to Central Mare Inc., or Central Mare, a related party controlled by the family of the
Company�s Chief Executive Officer. Since July 1, 2010 Central Mare has been performing all operational,
technical and commercial functions relating to the chartering and operation of the Company vessels, pursuant to a
letter agreement, or the Letter Agreement, concluded between Central Mare and the Company as well as
management agreements concluded between Central Mare and the Company�s vessel-owning subsidiaries.
Furthermore the letter agreement provided for the provision of services in connection
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with compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, services rendered in relation to the
Company�s maintenance of proper books and records, services in relation to the financial reporting requirements
of the Company under Commission and NASDAQ rules and regulations and information-system related services.

Pursuant to an amendment of the Letter Agreement on January 1, 2013, the Company paid a management fee of $250
US dollars per day per vessel up to June 30 2013 and $258 US dollars per day per vessel up to October 16 2013. That
fee included all the above mentioned services. On October 16, 2013 the letter agreement was amended again and it
now provides for a fixed monthly fee of $15 for the provision of all the above mentioned services, for the period when
the Company doesn�t have any ships.

Also Central Mare will receive a chartering commission of 1.25% on all freight, hire and demurrage revenues; a
commission of 1.00% of all gross sale proceeds or the purchase price paid for vessels; a commission of 0.2% on
derivative agreements and loan financing or refinancing and a newbuilding supervision fee of Euro 437 or
approximately $603 per newbuilding vessel. All the abovementioned commissions and fees will apply only in the case
that the service is provided.

Furthermore, if required, Central Mare will also handle and settle all claims arising out of its duties under the
management agreements (other than insurance and salvage claims) in exchange for a fee of Euro 164 or approximately
$226 US Dollars per person per eight-hour day. Finally legal fees for claims and general corporate services incurred
by Central Mare on behalf of the Company will be reimbursed to Central Mare at cost.

This letter agreement had an initial term of five years after which it will continue to be in effect until terminated by
either party subject to a twelve-month advance notice of termination.

Pursuant to the terms of the management agreement, all fees payable to Central Mare are adjusted upwards 3% per
annum on each anniversary date of the agreement. Transactions with the Manager in Euros are settled on the basis of
the EUR/USD on the invoice date.

On September 1, 2013 we entered into a termination agreement with Central Mare, whereby Central Mare agreed to
provide us a 30% discount on the termination fees that were payable as per the shipmanagement agreements between
Central Mare and the vessel owning subsidiaries of the six vessels we sold on October 16, 2013, due to early
termination without 12 months notice. The termination fees due to Central Mare amounted to $846.

(c) International Ship Management Inc. (�International�): on June 1, 2011, the Company decided to outsource all of
the commercial and technical management of M/T Delos to International Ship Management Inc., or International,
a related party controlled by the family of the Company�s Chief Executive Officer, with terms similar to the ones
between the Company and Central Mare. The management agreement ended in October 15, 2011 when the
bareboat charter of the vessel with the Company was terminated. No termination fees were charged for the
termination of the said agreement.

(d) Central Mare Inc. (�Central Mare�)�Executive Officers and Other Personnel Agreements: On September 1, 2010,
the Company entered into separate agreements with Central Mare pursuant to which Central Mare provides the
Company with its executive officers. These agreements were entered into in exchange for terminating prior
agreements.

Under the terms of the agreement for the Company�s Chief Executive Officer, the Company is obligated to pay an
annual base salary, a minimum cash bonus and stock compensation of 7,142 common shares of the Company to be
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issued at the end of each calendar year (see Note 13).

The initial term of the agreement expires on August 31, 2014; however the agreement shall be automatically extended
for successive one-year terms unless Central Mare or the Company provides notice of non-renewal at least sixty days
prior to the expiration of the then applicable term.

Under the terms of the agreement for the Company�s Executive Vice President and Chairman, the Company is
obligated to pay an annual base salary and additional incentive compensation as determined by the board
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of directors. The initial term of the agreement expired on August 31, 2011; however the agreement shall automatically
be extended for successive one-year terms unless Central Mare or the Company provides notice of non-renewal at
least sixty days prior to the expiration of the then applicable term.

Under the terms of the agreement for the Company�s Chief Financial Officer, the Company is obligated to pay an
annual base salary. The initial term of the agreement expired on August 31, 2012; however the agreement shall
automatically be extended for successive one-year terms unless Central Mare or the Company provides notice of
non-renewal at least sixty days prior to the expiration of the then applicable term.

Under the terms of the agreement for the Company�s Chief Technical Officer, the Company is obligated to pay an
annual base salary. The initial term of the agreement expired on August 31, 2011, however the agreement shall
automatically be extended for successive one-year terms unless Central Mare or the Company provides notice of
non-renewal at least sixty days prior to the expiration of the then applicable term. In the event of a change of control
the Chief Technical Officer is entitled to receive a cash payment equal to three years� annual base salary. In addition,
our Chief Technical Officer is subject to non-competition and non-solicitation undertakings.

On March 1, 2011, the Company entered into an agreement with Central Mare pursuant to which, Central Mare
furnishes certain administrative employees. Under the terms of this agreement the Company is obligated to pay an
annual base salary.

On July 1, 2012 the Executive Officers and Other Personnel Agreements were amended and the salaries of the
executive officers were reduced as was the number of administrative employees provided.

As of December 31, 2013 the net amount due to Central Mare was $807 and is included in Due to related parties,
which is separately presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The amount concerns $722 related to
executive officers and other personnel expenses, $37 related to management fees, $46 related to management
agreement termination and $1 related to commissions on sale and purchase of vessels.

The fees charged by Central Mare for the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2013 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2012 2013

Management Fees $ 5,575 $ 2,345 $ 505 Management fees related party�Statement
of comprehensive income/ (loss)

Executive officers and other
personnel expenses

$ 5,405 $ 2,349 $ 1,760 General and administrative
expenses�Statement of comprehensive
income/ (loss)

Superintendent Fees $ 184 $ 29 �  Vessel operating expenses�Statement of
comprehensive income/ (loss)

Commission for sale of vessels $ 39 �  $ 260 (Gain)/loss on sale of vessels�
Statement of comprehensive income/
(loss)

Commission on charter hire
agreements

$ 1,216 $ 275 $ 150 Voyage expenses�Statement of
comprehensive income/ (loss)

Management agreement termination
fees

$ 672 �  $ 846 Management fees related party�Statement
of comprehensive income/ (loss)
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Total $ 13,901 $ 4,998 $ 3,521

(e) Sovereign Equity Line Transaction: On August 24, 2011, the Company entered into a Common Stock Purchase
Agreement with Sovereign Holdings Inc. (�Sovereign�), which is controlled by the Company�s Chief Executive
Officer and President. In this transaction, commonly known as an equity line, Sovereign
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committed to purchase up to $10,000 of the Company�s common shares, to be drawn from time to time at the
Company�s request in multiples of $500 over the following 12 months (�the Sovereign Equity Line Transaction�).
Shares purchased under the Common Stock Purchase Agreement are priced at the greater of (i) $3.15 per share
and (ii) a per share price of 35% of the volume weighted average price of our common shares for the previous 12
trading days. Also on August 24, 2011, the Company entered into a registration rights agreement with Sovereign,
pursuant to which Sovereign has been granted certain demand registration rights with respect to the shares issued
to Sovereign under the Common Stock Purchase Agreement. In addition, on August 24, 2011, the Company
entered into a lock-up agreement with Sovereign, pursuant to which Sovereign agreed not to sell shares acquired
pursuant to the Common Stock Purchase Agreement for a period starting 12 months from each acquisition of
such shares.

The Sovereign Equity Line Transaction was entered into to meet urgent short-term liquidity needs, especially the
Company�s debt service obligations. The discount at which the shares are sold under the equity line was evaluated in
the context of the Company�s urgent liquidity needs, the lack of alternatives available to the Company to raise capital
due to unfavorable market conditions, the flexibility provided by the Sovereign transaction and the 12 month lock-up
agreement that accompanied the transaction that made the shares illiquid for Sovereign.

The Board established a special committee composed of independent directors (the �Special Committee�) to consider
the Sovereign Equity Line Transaction and make a recommendation to the Board. In the course of its deliberations,
the Special Committee hired an independent investment bank which had never previously done any work for the
Company or for Sovereign and obtained a fairness opinion from that investment bank. On August 24, 2011, the
Special Committee determined that the Sovereign Equity Line Transaction was fair to and in the Company�s best
interest and the best interests of its shareholders. Upon the recommendation of the Special Committee, the Board
approved the Sovereign Equity Line Transaction on August 24, 2011 and the Company entered into the Agreement on
that date.

The Company drew down $2,000 under the Common Stock Purchase Agreement at a price of $5.4551 per share on
September 1, 2011, and on October 19, 2011, the Company drew down $5,000 at a price of $3.15 per share.

Financial instruments classified as FVTPL are recognized at fair value in the balance sheet when the Company has an
obligation to perform under the contractual provisions of those instruments. Financial instruments are classified as
liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. Changes in the financial
instruments are recognized in earnings.

(f) Central Shipping Monaco SAM: On September 21, 2011, the Company entered into a lease agreement for one
year for the provision of office space in Monaco, effective from October 1, 2011 with Central Shipping Monaco
SAM, a related party controlled by the family of the Company�s Chief Executive Officer and President. This
agreement was extended up to December 12, 2012 and then terminated. This termination did not result in any
additional fees or costs.

(g) Central Mare Inc. (�Central Mare�)�Credit Facility: On July 16, 2011 the Company entered into an unsecured
credit facility with Central Mare for Euro 1,800 ($2,372 applying the $U.S. Dollar/Euro exchange rate as of
December 31, 2012) to be used for general working capital purposes. The loan was fully repaid on October 22,
2013.
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(h) Shipping Financial Services Inc Credit Facility: On July 1, 2011 the Company entered into an unsecured credit
facility with Shipping Financial Services Inc, a related party ultimately controlled by the family of our Chief
Executive Officer, for Euro 350 ($461 applying the $U.S. Dollar/Euro exchange rate as of December 31, 2012) to
be used for general working capital purposes. The loan was fully repaid on October 24, 2013.
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8. Leases:
A. Lease arrangements, under which the company acts as the lessee

i) Operating lease M/T Delos:
On October 1, 2010, the Company entered into a bareboat charter agreement to lease vessel M/T Delos until
September 30, 2015 for a variable rate per year. Additionally, the Company agreed to pay $480 together with the first
hire. The bareboat charter agreement was accounted for as operating lease. Charterers had certain options by the end
of the normal charter period (five years) to purchase the vessel.

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013, lease payments relating to the bareboat charters of the
vessel were $2,380, $0 and $0 respectively and are included in Charter hire expense in the accompanying consolidated
statements of comprehensive income/(loss). On October 15, 2011 the Company terminated the bareboat charter
agreement resulting in a termination expense of $5,750 included in �Lease Termination Expense� in the accompanying
consolidated statements of comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ended December 31, 2011. As of December 31,
2012 and 2013 the outstanding amount of the termination fee was $5,306 and $4,706 respectively (see Note 20).

ii) Office lease:
In January 2006, Top Tanker Management entered into an agreement to lease office space in Athens, Greece, with an
unrelated party. In September 2010 the agreement was amended and the new monthly rent starting then was
renegotiated down to Euro 41 or $55 (based on the U.S. Dollar/Euro exchange rate as of December 31, 2010) and it
was agreed to revert occupancy in certain areas of the leased office space by the end of April 2011, with all other
terms remaining unchanged. On September 1, 2011, the agreement was amended again and the new monthly rent was
renegotiated down to Euro 8 or $10.4 (based on the U.S. Dollar/Euro exchange rate as of December 31, 2011). It was
also agreed to revert occupancy in a larger area of the leased office space. In January 1, 2013, the agreement was
amended again and the new monthly rent was renegotiated down to Euro 2.5 or $3.4 (based on the U.S. Dollar/Euro
exchange rate as of December 31, 2013) and the annual adjustment for inflation increase plus 1% clause was removed.
It was also agreed to revert occupancy in an even larger area of the leased office space and to extend the duration of
the lease to December 31, 2024. All other terms of the lease remained unchanged. General and administrative
expenses for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 include $531, $127 and $40, respectively, for rent
expense. As a result of the above mentioned agreements for the reversion of occupancy in certain areas of the leased
office space the Company made a revision in the useful life of certain leasehold improvements that would have been
amortized over the life of the lease, resulting in accelerated depreciation of $931 and $621 in 2011 and 2012
respectively which are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income/ (loss).

In May 2007, Top Tankers (U.K) Limited entered into a lease agreement for office space in London. The lease
agreement was valid from June 2007 and would continue until either party gave to the other one calendar month
written notice. The annual lease was GBP 20 or $32 (based on the U.S. Dollar/GBP exchange rate as of December 31,
2009), payable quarterly in advance. In September 2010, Top Tankers (U.K) Limited entered into a new lease
agreement for office space in London. The new lease agreement was valid from September 2010 and would continue
until either party gave to the other one calendar month written notice. The new annual lease was GBP 12 or $19
(based on the U.S. Dollar/GBP exchange rate as of December 31, 2012). This agreement was terminated in
September 30, 2012. General and administrative expenses for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013
include $19, $14 and $0, respectively, for rent expense.
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In November 2009, Top Ships Inc. entered into a lease agreement for office space in London. The initial agreement
was signed on November 15, 2009 and expired on November 14, 2010. The agreement was extended for another year
with all terms remaining unchanged. On November 15, 2011 the agreement was extended for another year with all
terms remaining unchanged. Finally the agreement was terminated on June 30, 2012. The
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monthly rent was GBP 26 or $42 (based on the U.S. Dollar/GBP exchange rate as of December 31, 2012). General
and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 include $498, $247 and $0 for rent
expense.

In September 2011, Top Ships Inc. entered into a lease agreement for office space in Monaco with Central Shipping
Monaco SAM, a Company which is controlled by the Company�s Chief Executive Officer and President. The monthly
rent was Euro 5 or $7 (based on the U.S. Dollar/Euro exchange rate as of December 31, 2012). This agreement was
extended up to December 2012 and then terminated. This termination did not result in any additional fees. General
and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2013 include $87 and $0 for rent expense
respectively.

iii) Future minimum lease payments:
The Company�s future minimum lease payments required to be made after December 31, 2013, related to the existing
at December 31, 2013 leases are as follows:

Year ending December 31,
Office
Lease

2014 41
2015 41
2016 41
2017 41
2018 41
2019 and thereafter 246
Total 451

B. Lease arrangements, under which the company acts as the lessor

i) Charter agreements:
All of the Company�s time charters and bareboat charters are classified as operating leases. Revenues under operating
leases are recognized when a charter agreement exists, charter rate is fixed and determinable, the vessel is made
available to the lessee and collection of related revenue is reasonably assured.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company did not operate any vessels and hence has no future time-charter receipts.

9. Prepayments and Other:
The amounts shown in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are analyzed as follows:

December 31,
2012

December 31,
2013
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Prepaid expenses 77 54
Other receivables 1,012 464

Total 1,089 518
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10. Debt:
The amounts in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are analyzed as follows:

Borrower / Vessel(s)
December 31,

2012
December 31,

2013
HSH
Warhol / Miss Marilena 29,456 �  
Indiana / Tyrrhenian Wave 21,224 �  
Britto / Britto 26,393 �  
Jeke / Evian (ex Papillon) 15,662 �  
DVB
Hongbo / Hongbo 24,289 �  
Hongbo / Bridge Loan 3,520 �  
ALPHA
Lichtenstein / Lichtenstein 26,819 �  
LAURASIA TRADING
The Company 3,032 �  
Total 150,395 �  
Less-current portion (150,395) �  
LOANS FROM RELATED PARTIES
CENTRAL MARE INC
The Company 2,218 �  
SHIPPING FINANCIAL SERVICES INC
The Company 414 �  
Total loans from related parties 2,632

Borrower / Vessel(s)
December 31,

2012
December 31,

2013
Banksy / Ionian Wave* 19,592 �  
Debt related to Vessel held for sale 19,592 �  

* M/T UACC Sila as of December 31, 2012 was classified as held for sale.

(a) HSH:
As of December 31, 2012, the Company�s subsidiaries had a total outstanding balance with HSH of $93,664, excluding
unamortized financing fees of $929, under two facilities (bulker financing and product tanker financing), as follows:

Bulker Financing

M/V Evian: At December 31, 2012, Jeke had a loan outstanding of $15,768, maturing in February 2015, excluding
unamortized financing fees of $106.

Product Tanker Financing
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Warhol: At December 31, 2012, Warhol had a loan outstanding of $29,712, maturing in February 2019, excluding
unamortized financing fees of $256.

Indiana: At December 31, 2012, Indiana had a loan outstanding of $21,527, maturing in March 2019, excluding
unamortized financing fees of $303.

Britto: At December 31, 2012, Britto had a loan outstanding of $26,658, maturing in May 2019, excluding
unamortized financing fees of $265.
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On October 16, 2013, the Company sold the shipowning companies of the vessels M/V Evian, M/T Miss Marilena,
M/T UACC Shams and M/T Britto together with all their outstanding loan balances with HSH. For further details,
refer to Note 19.

(b) DVB:
As of December 31, 2012, the Company�s subsidiaries had a total outstanding balance with DVB of $48,247,
excluding unamortized financing fees of $846, under one facility, as follows:

Tranche A:

Tranche A-Banksy: As of December 31, 2012, Banksy had a loan outstanding of $20,000, excluding unamortized
financing fees of $408.

Tranche A-Hongbo: As of December 31, 2012, Hongbo had a loan outstanding of $24,727, excluding unamortized
financing fees of $438.

Tranche B: As of December 31, 2012 the outstanding amount of Tranche B, was $3,520.

On October 16, 2013, the Company sold the shipowning company of the vessel M/V Hongbo together with its
outstanding loan balance with DVB. For further details, refer to Note 19.

(c) ALPHA:

As of December 31, 2012, the Company�s subsidiary Lichtenstein had a loan outstanding of $27,000, maturing in
February 2019, excluding unamortized financing fees of $181.

On October 16, 2013, the Company sold the shipowning company of the vessel M/V Lichtenstein together with its
outstanding loan balance with ALPHA. For further details, refer to Note 19.

Other loans

Laurasia Trading Ltd Credit Facility:

As of December 31, 2012, the outstanding amount under the Laurasia Trading Ltd credit facility was $3.25 million.
The facility was repaid in full on October 17, 2013.

Shipping Financial Services Inc Credit Facility:

As of December 31, 2012, the outstanding amount under the Shipping Financial Services Inc credit facility was Euro
350 ($462 applying the $U.S. Dollar/Euro exchange rate as of December 31, 2012). The facility was repaid in full on
October 22, 2013.

Central Mare Inc Credit Facility:

As of December 31, 2012, the outstanding amount under the Central Mare Inc credit facility was Euro 1,800 ($ 2,375
applying the $U.S. Dollar/Euro exchange rate as of December 31, 2012). The facility was repaid in full on October 24,
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Debt Covenants:

As of December 31, 2013 the Company had no indebtedness and hence no requirements stemming from loan
covenants.
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Interest Expense: Interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013, amounted to $10,068,
$7,240 and $4,644 respectively and is included in interest and finance costs in the accompanying consolidated
statements of comprehensive income/(loss) (Note 16). Interest expense for 2013 includes $139 of interest for M/T
Delos termination fee (see Note 20).

Financing Costs: The additions in deferred financing costs amounted to $1,128 and $724 during the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2013. For 2012 as well as for 2013, these figures are due to the successive one-year
extensions of the Laurasia, Central Mare and Shipping Financial Services facilities.

The weighted average interest rates, as of December 31, 2012 and 2013, excluding all swaps, were 3.55% and 3.7%,
respectively.

The vessel-owning subsidiary companies with outstanding loans had restricted net assets amounting to $15,806 and $0
as of December 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively.

11. Commitments and Contingencies:
Various claims, suits, and complaints, including those involving government regulations and product liability, arise in
the ordinary course of the shipping business. In addition, losses may arise from disputes with charterers, agents,
insurance and other claims with suppliers relating to the operations of the Company�s vessels. Currently, management
is not aware of any such claims or contingent liabilities, which should be disclosed, or for which a provision should be
established in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

On December 5 and December 16 of 2013, the Company agreed to acquire two newbuilding product/chemical tankers
with attached time charters attached from two entities affiliated with the Company�s President, Chief Executive Officer
and Director, Evangelos J. Pistiolis. The newbuilding vessels are scheduled for delivery from Hyundai Mipo
Dockyard Co., Ltd. in the first and third quarter of 2015. The purchase price of the newbuilding vessels is $35,000 and
$37,000 respectively, and is payable as follows: 20% as an initial deposit and 80% on delivery of the vessels (see Note
5).

The Company accrues for the cost of environmental liabilities when management becomes aware that a liability is
probable and is able to reasonably estimate the probable exposure. Currently, management is not aware of any such
claims or contingent liabilities, which should be disclosed, or for which a provision should be established in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

12. Common Stock and Additional Paid-In Capital:
Reverse Stock Split: On June 24, 2011, the Company effected a 1-for-10 reverse stock split of its common stock.
There was no change in the number of authorized common shares of the Company. The par value of the Company�s
common shares remained unchanged at $0.01 per share. On April 21, 2014, the Company effected another reverse
stock split of its common stock and applied a ratio of 1-for-7 shares. There was no change in the number of authorized
common shares of the Company. All share and per share amounts in these financial statements have been retroactively
adjusted to reflect this stock split (see Note 21).
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13. Stock Incentive Plan:
Starting on July 1, 2005 and on various grant dates (the �grant dates�) thereafter, as outlined below, the Company
granted shares pursuant to the Company�s 2005 Stock Incentive Plan as from time to time amended (�the Plan�), which
was adopted in April 2005 to provide certain key persons (the �Participants�), on whose initiatives and efforts the
successful conduct of the Company�s business depends, and who are responsible for the management, growth and
protection of the Company�s business, with incentives to: (a) enter into and remain in the service of the Company, a
Company�s subsidiary, or Company�s joint venture, (b) acquire a proprietary interest in the
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success of the Company, (c) maximize their performance, and (d) enhance the long-term performance of the Company
(whether directly or indirectly) through enhancing the long-term performance of a Company subsidiary or Company
joint venture. The granted shares have no exercise price and constitute a bonus in nature.

In the case where restricted shares were granted, there were signed �Restricted Stock Agreements� between the
Company and the Participants on the respective grant dates. Under these agreements, the Participants have the right to
receive dividends and the right to vote the shares, subject to the following restrictions:

i. Grants to Company�s CEO. The Company�s CEO shall not sell, assign, exchange, transfer, pledge, hypothecate or
otherwise dispose of or encumber any of the shares other than to a Company, which is wholly owned by the
Company�s CEO. The restrictions lapse on the earlier of (i) the time specified in the relevant Restricted Stock
Agreement or (ii) the termination of the Company�s CEO employment with the Company for any reason. As the shares
granted to the Company�s CEO do not contain any future service vesting conditions, all such shares are considered
vested shares on the grant date.

ii. Grants to Other Participants. The Participants (officers, independent and executive members of the Board,
Company�s employees and consultants) shall not sell, assign, exchange, transfer, pledge, hypothecate or otherwise
dispose of or encumber any of the shares. The restrictions lapse on the time specified in the relevant Restricted Stock
Agreement conditioned upon the Participant�s continued employment with the Company from the date of the
agreement until the date the restrictions lapse (the �vesting period�).

In the event the Participant�s employment with the Company terminates for any reason before the end of the vesting
period, that Participant shall forfeit all rights to all Shares that have not yet vested as of such date of termination.
Dividends earned during the vesting period will not be returned to the Company, even if the unvested shares are
ultimately forfeited. As these Shares granted to other than the CEO Participants contain a time-based service vesting
condition, such shares are considered non-vested shares on the grant date.

The following table presents grants pursuant to the Plan�s issuance from 2009 onwards:

Grant Date
Number of
Shares Issued to

Vesting Period (according to the way
stock-based

compensation is expensed)
December 21, 2009 4,285 New Non-Executive Directors proportionately over a period of 5 years
December 21, 2009 7,142 CEO on the grant date
October 29, 2010 3,571 Officer 15 equal monthly installments (1st vesting on

the grant date)
October 29, 2010 7,138 Officer 15 equal monthly installments (1st vesting on

the grant date)
December 2, 2010 7,142 CEO on the grant date
December 1, 2011 7,142 CEO on the grant date
February 12, 2013 7,142 CEO on the grant date
September 26, 2013 7,142 Officer on the grant date
September 26, 2013 5,714 Officer on the grant date
December 18, 2013 7,142 CEO on the grant date
All share amounts have been adjusted for the 1:7 reverse stock split effected on April 21, 2014.
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A summary of the status of the Company�s non-vested shares as of December 31, 2013 and movement during the year
ended December 31, 2013, is presented below:

Non-vested
Shares

Weighted
average
grant date
fair value

As of January 1, 2013 22,106 $ 365.75

Granted and issued shares 20,000 $ 10.64

Granted and non issued shares 7,142 $ 11.20

Vested (28,214) $ 23.87

As of December 31, 2013 21,034 $ 366.24

The compensation expense recognized in the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 was $1,412, $378 and
$345 and is included in General and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income/(loss). As of December 31, 2013, the total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested share awards
is $0. The weighted average grant date fair value of shares granted, vested and forfeited for the years 2011, 2012 and
2013 was $335.65, $365.75 and $66.24 respectively.

The total fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013 was $51 and $309
respectively.

On December 18, 2013 the Board of Directors granted 7,142 shares to the Company�s Chief Executive Officer at a
price of $11.20 per share to be issued to Sovereign Holdings Inc., a company wholly owned by our Chief Executive
Officer, in accordance with the CEO�s employment contract dated September 1, 2010. The shares vest six months from
the date of grant, with any unvested restricted stock vesting upon his termination from the Company for any reason
(including resignation). However, as the shares granted to the Company�s Chief Executive Officer do not contain any
future service vesting conditions, all such shares are considered vested shares on the grant date. The compensation
expense of $80 is included in General and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income/(loss) for the year ended December 31, 2013. These shares were issued on January 17, 2014.

The Company estimates the future forfeitures of non-vested shares to be immaterial. The Company will, however,
re-evaluate the reasonableness of its assumption at each reporting period.

No dividends were paid in the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013.

14. Earnings (loss) Per Common Share:
All shares issued (including non-vested shares issued under the Plan) are the Company�s common stock and have equal
rights to vote and participate in dividends and in undistributed earnings. Non-vested shares do not have a contractual
obligation to share in the losses. Dividends declared during the period for non-vested common stock as well as
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undistributed earnings allocated to non-vested stock are deducted from net income / (loss) attributable to common
shareholders for the purpose of the computation of basic earnings per share in accordance with two-class method as
required by relevant guidance. The denominator of the basic earnings per common share excludes any non vested
shares as such are not considered outstanding until the time-based vesting restriction has elapsed.

For purposes of calculating diluted earnings per share the denominator of the diluted earnings per share calculation
includes the incremental shares assumed issued under the treasury stock method weighted for the period the
non-vested shares were outstanding, with the exception of the 21,034 shares, granted to the Company�s CEO, which
will vest in the event of change of control. Consequently, those shares are excluded from the remaining non-vested
shares.

F-43

Edgar Filing: HILLENBRAND DANIEL C. - Form 4

Table of Contents 46



Table of Contents

The components of the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2011,
2012 and 2013 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2012 2013

Net (loss) income $ (189,112) $ (63,984) $ 1,408
Net (loss) income available to common shareholders $ (189,112) $ (63,984) $ 1,408
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic 900,668 2,427,083 2,437,361
Weighted average common shares outstanding,
diluted 900,668 2,427,083 2,444,504
(Loss) / income per common share, basic and diluted $ (209.97) $ (26.36) $ 0.58

For the years ended December 31 2011, 2012 and 2013, 25,749, 22,106 and 21,034 shares respectively, of non-vested
shares as at the end of each year, were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because to do so
would have been antidilutive for the periods presented.

15. Voyage and Vessel Operating Expenses:
The amounts in the accompanying consolidated statements of comprehensive income/(loss) are as follows (expressed
in thousands of U.S. Dollars):

Voyage Expenses Year Ended December 31,
2011 2012 2013

Port charges 1,141 24 18

Bunkers 4,684 177 125

Commissions 1,918 822 520

Total 7,743 1,023 663

Vessel Operating Expenses Year Ended December 31,
2011 2012 2013

Crew wages and related costs 5,415 361 �  
Insurance 1,165 83 47
Repairs and maintenance 1,356 179 689
Spares and consumable stores 2,369 184 �  
Taxes (Note 17) 63 7 9

Total 10,368 814 745
During 2013, the bareboat charterer of the M/V Evian failed to pay operating expenses of the vessel, as per the
bareboat charter party. Hence the Company, in order to avoid the detention of M/V Evian, paid a portion of the
operating expenses that the bareboat charterer incurred in 2013 and that related mainly to repairs and maintenance
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16. Interest and Finance Costs:
The amounts in the accompanying consolidated statements of comprehensive income/(loss) are analyzed as follows
(expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars):

Interest and Finance Costs Year Ended December 31,
2011 2012 2013

Interest on debt (Note 10) 10,068 7,240 4,644

Bank charges 16 297 964

Amortization and write-off of financing fees 2,234 1,437 1,835

Amortization of debt discount 3,965 371 �  

Total 16,283 9,345 7,443

17. Income Taxes:
Marshall Islands, Cyprus and Liberia do not impose a tax on international shipping income. Under the laws of
Marshall Islands, Cyprus and Liberia, the countries of the companies� incorporation and vessels� registration, the
companies are subject to registration and tonnage taxes, which have been included in vessels� operating expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of comprehensive income/(loss).

Pursuant to the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the �Code�), U.S. source income from the
international operations of ships is generally exempt from U.S. tax if the Company operating the ships meets both of
the following requirements, (a) the Company is organized in a foreign country that grants an equivalent exception to
corporations organized in the United States and (b) either (i) more than 50% of the value of the Company�s stock is
owned, directly or indirectly, by individuals who are �residents� of the Company�s country of organization or of another
foreign country that grants an �equivalent exemption� to corporations organized in the United States (50% Ownership
Test) or (ii) the Company�s stock is �primarily and regularly traded on an established securities market� in its country of
organization, in another country that grants an �equivalent exemption� to United States corporations, or in the United
States (Publicly-Traded Test).

Under the regulations, a Company�s stock will be considered to be �regularly traded� on an established securities market
if (i) one or more classes of its stock representing more than 50 percent of its outstanding shares, by voting power and
value, is listed on the market and is traded on the market, other than in minimal quantities, on at least 60 days during
the taxable year; and (ii) the aggregate number of shares of stock traded during the taxable year is at least 10% of the
average number of shares of the stock outstanding during the taxable year.

The Marshall Islands, where the Company is incorporated, grants an �equivalent exemption� to United States
corporations. Therefore, the Company is exempt from United States federal income taxation with respect to
U.S.-source shipping income if either the 50% Ownership Test or the Publicly-Traded Test is met. The Company
believes that for periods prior to its initial public offering in July 2004, it satisfied the 50% Ownership Test. The
Company also believes that for periods subsequent to its initial public offering, it satisfies the Publicly-Traded Test on
the basis that more than 50% of the value of its stock is primarily and regularly traded on the Nasdaq National Market
and, therefore, the Company and its subsidiaries are entitled to exemption from U.S. federal income tax, in respect of
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18. Derivative Financial Instruments:
The principal financial assets of the Company consist of cash on hand and at banks and accounts receivable due from
charterers. The principal financial liabilities of the Company consist of accounts payable due to suppliers, termination
fee outstanding (see Note 20) and an interest rate swap agreement.

a) Interest rate risk: As of December 31, 2013 the Company bears no interest rate risk relating to the variability of
the cash flows since there is no outstanding senior debt and the only interest rate swap
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arrangement is not pegged to a floating interest rate. The only exposure the Company retains to Floating interest
rates relates to the outstanding balance of the termination fee outstanding (see Note 20).

b) Credit risk: Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit
risk, consist principally of cash and trade accounts receivable.

The Company places its temporary cash investments, consisting mostly of deposits, with high credit qualified
financial institutions. The Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit standing of those financial
institutions with which it places its temporary cash investments. The Company limits its credit risk with accounts
receivable by performing ongoing credit evaluations of its customers� financial condition and generally does not
require collateral for its accounts receivable.

c) Fair value: The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable and accounts
payable are reasonable estimates of their fair value due to the short-term nature of these financial instruments.
The carrying value of the termination fee outstanding approximates its fair value as this represents an interest
bearing liability pegged to floating Libor rates. The Company considers its creditworthiness when determining
the fair value of the credit facilities. The carrying value approximates the fair market value for the floating rate
loans. The fair value of interest rate swaps is determined using a discounted cash flow method taking into account
current and future interest rates and the creditworthiness of both the financial instrument counterparty and the
Company.

The estimated fair value of the Company�s derivatives outstanding as at December 31, 2012 and 2013, as detailed
below, approximates their carrying values.

Counterparty

SWAP
Number
(Nr)

Notional
Amount Period Effective Date

Interest
Rate

Payable Fair Value�Liability
December 31,

2013
December 31,

2012**
December 31,

2013
ALPHA 1 $ 20,000 7 years March 30, 2008 10.85% (2,785) (1,697) 

** The total value of the Company�s interest rate swap arrangements as of December 31, 2012 was $5,811. Two of
our interest rate swap arrangements as of December 31, 2012 matured on March 27, 2013 and June 30, 2013
respectively and another two were transferred on October 16, 2013 to the new owners of Jeke Shipping Company
Limited. (owner of the M/T Evian) in accordance with the stock purchase agreement for the disposal of the
subsidiary (see Note 19). The table above presents a comparison of the value of our interest rate swap
arrangements as of December 31, 2013 with its corresponding value on December 31, 2012.

The Company entered into interest rate swap transactions to manage interest costs and the risk associated with
changing interest rates with respect to its variable interest rate loans and credit facilities. These interest rate swap
transactions fixed the interest rates based on predetermined ranges in current LIBOR rates. As of December 31, 2013,
the Company�s outstanding interest rate swap had a combined notional amount of $20,000.

The Company has entered into an agreement with Alpha bank relating to the Alpha bank Swap, according to which,
the Company has pledged an amount of $1,739 as of December 31, 2013 to an account controlled by Alpha bank as a
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cash collateral for the repayment of interest of the Alpha bank Swap.

The Company follows the accounting guidance for Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures. This guidance enables
the reader of the financial statements to assess the inputs used to develop those measurements by establishing a
hierarchy for ranking the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair values. The statement
requires assets and liabilities carried at fair value to be classified and disclosed in one of the following three
categories:

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: Observable market based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data;

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data.
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The Company pays a fixed rate and receives a fixed rate for its remaining interest rate swap with Alpha bank. The fair
values of those derivatives determined through Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are derived principally from or
corroborated by observable market data. Inputs include quoted prices for similar assets, liabilities (risk adjusted) and
market-corroborated inputs, such as market comparables, interest rates, yield curves and other items that allow value
to be determined.

As of December 31, 2013, no fair value measurements for assets or liabilities under Level 1 or Level 3 were
recognized in the Company�s consolidated financial statements.

The following table summarizes the valuation of the Company�s assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis
as of December, 31, 2013. No items were measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis at December 31, 2013.

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

Fair Value Measurements

Non�Recurring Measurements:
December 31,

2012

Quoted prices
in active markets
for identical assets

Level 1

Significant
other

observable
inputs
Level 2

Unobservable
Inputs
Level 3

Gains/
(Losses)

Long-lived assets held for sale $ 25,200 $ 25,200 $ (16,978) 
Long-lived assets held and used $ 164,792 $ 164,792 $ (46,592) 
Long-lived assets previously held
for sale and currently held and used $ 12,500 $ 12,500 $ 2,086
In accordance with the provisions of relevant guidance, a long-lived asset held for sale, namely M/T UACC Sila, with
a carrying amount of $42,178 was written down to its fair value of $25,200, resulting in an impairment charge of
$16,978, which was included in the accompanying consolidated statement of comprehensive income/ (loss) for
December 31, 2012 (see Note 4). The fair value of the impaired vessel was determined based on a market approach,
which consisted of quotations from well respected brokers regarding vessels with similar characteristics as compared
to the Company�s vessels. As a result, the Company classified this long-lived asset held for sale as Level 2.

In accordance with the provisions of relevant guidance, long-lived assets held and used, namely M/T Miss Marilena,
M/T Lichtenstein, M/T UACC Schams, M/T Britto and M/T Hongo, with a total carrying amount of $211,384 were
written down to a total fair value of $164,792, resulting in an impairment charge of $46,592, which was also included
in the accompanying consolidated statement of comprehensive income/ (loss) for December 31, 2012 (see Note 4).
The fair value of the impaired vessels was determined by a combination of market approach, which consisted of
quotations from well respected brokers regarding vessels with similar characteristics as compared to the Company�s
vessels, that determined the charter-free vessel value (level 2) and a charter valuation based on the Company�s
projections employing assumptions used by market participants (level 3). The Company has split its approach in two
sections: (i) Charter-free value of the vessel. Charter-free value was determined from quotations from well respected
brokers regarding vessels with similar characteristics with the vessels of the Company. This market approach was
deemed more objective mainly due to the multitude of transactions of comparable assets in the active and liquid
shipping S & P market. Valuation inputs from the market approach are considered Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy,
since the Company uses a valuation derived from prices in observed transactions. (ii) Value of the charter. The
valuation of the attached timecharter on three of the Company�s impaired tankers entailed the discounting of the
differential between the current long period timecharter for a similar vessel and the timecharter already attached to the
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independent shipbrokers. Apart from the long period timecharter rates, budgeted operating expenses and the discount
rate that the Company used, there
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were no other assumptions used in the discounting model. The discount rate used by the Company took into account
the cost of equity of the company, the country risk of the charterer�s country and the default rate of the charterer. The
operating expenses used were management estimates based on the management�s experience in operating this type of
vessel. The charter valuation, since it entails the use of judgments and assumptions, was individually considered a
level 3 approach. However according to ASC 820-10-35-37 (Applying ASU 2011-04) if the level 3 part of the
valuation is deemed insignificant (18.7% of the total value was derived from level 3 inputs) from the Company the
prevailing level would be level 2, hence the Company characterized the valuation approach as a Level 2 in its entirety.

In accordance with the provisions ASC 360-10-35-44, long-lived assets previously classified as held for sale that were
classified as held and used as of December 31, 2012 with a carrying amount of $10,414 were valued at $12,500,
resulting in a write-up of $2,086, which was included in the accompanying consolidated statement of comprehensive
income/ (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2012 (see Note 4). According to the provisions of abovementioned
guidance the Company measured (i) the carrying amount of the vessel before it was classified as held for sale,
adjusted for any depreciation expense that would have been recognized had the vessel been continuously classified as
held and used and (ii) the fair value of the vessel on December 31, 2012, which was the date that the Company
decided not to sell the asset. The Company determined that the lower value of the two above measurements was the
fair value of the vessel on December 31, 2012 and used that as fair value. The fair value of the vessel on December 31,
2012 was determined based on a market approach, which consisted of quotations from well respected brokers
regarding vessels with similar characteristics as compared to our vessels. As a result, the Company classified this
long-lived asset held and used as Level 2.

The following tables summarize the valuation of our derivative financial instruments as of December 31, 2012 and
2013 respectively:

As of December 31, 2012

Fair Value Measurement at Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices in

Total

Active
Markets
for

Identical
Assets
(Level
1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Other

Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

Interest rate swaps $ 5,811 �  $ 5,811 �  

As of December 31, 2013
Fair Value Measurement at Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices in

Total

Active
Markets
for

Identical
Assets
(Level
1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Other

Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)
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Interest rate swaps $ 1,697 �  $ 1,697 �  
The Company�s interest rate swaps did not qualify for hedge accounting. The Company marks to market the fair
market value of the interest rate swaps at the end of every period and reflects the resulting unrealized gain or loss
during the period in �Gain / (loss) on derivative financial instruments� in its consolidated statement of comprehensive
income/ (loss) as well as presents the fair value at the end of each period in the balance sheet.
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Information on the location and amounts of derivative fair values in the consolidated balance sheets and derivative
losses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income/(loss) are presented below:

Liability Derivatives
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2013

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
Balance
Sheet

Location
Fair
Value

Balance
Sheet

Location
Fair
Value

Balance
Sheet

Location
Fair
Value

Interest rate swaps Current liabilities �
Derivative financial
instruments

$ 5,811 Current liabilities �
Derivative financial
instruments

$ 1,135 Non Current
liabilities �
Derivative financial
instruments

$ 562

Total Derivatives not
designated as hedging
instruments $ 5,811 $ 1,135 $ 562
In year ended December 31, 2012 due to covenant breaches we classified all our derivative financial instruments as
current (see Note 3).

Amount of Loss/(Gain) Recognized in
Statement of Comprehensive

Income/(Loss)

Derivative Instruments not designated
as hedging instruments

Location of Loss/(Gain)
recognized

in Income on Derivative
December 31,

2011
December 31,

2012
December 31,

2013
Interest rate swaps Loss/(Gain) on derivative

financial instruments $ (2,835) $ (2,656) $ (2,313) 

Total Loss/(Gain) on Derivatives $ (2,835) $ (2,656) $ (2,313) 

The Company has treated the Sovereign transaction as a freestanding financial instrument settled in the Company�s
common stock according to guidance under ASC 480-10 and as such the obligation is recognized in the balance sheet
at fair value with changes in its fair value recorded in earnings. The Company didn�t recognize an obligation deriving
from the Sovereign financial instrument as of December 31, 2011 since the Company is not obliged in any way to
issue further shares or draw down the remaining $3 million under the Sovereign Transaction and has made no
commitment to Sovereign to do so. Hence the instrument was not valued and hence there were no changes in its fair
value to be recorded in earnings. For the same reason, no changes in the Sovereign financial instrument�s fair value
were recorded in earnings during the year ended December 31, 2012. Finally the Company did not recognize an
obligation deriving from the Sovereign financial instrument as of December 31, 2012 since the Sovereign financial
instrument matured in August 25, 2012.

19. Gain on disposal of subsidiaries:
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On October 16, 2013 the Company sold the shipowning subsidiaries which owned the six vessels of the Company�s
fleet (namely M/Ts Miss Marilena, Lichtenstein, UACC Shams, Britto, Hongbo and M/V Evian) to an affiliate of the
AMCI Poseidon Fund LP, an unrelated party, for an aggregate cash consideration of $173,000 less $135,448 in net
debt and swap obligations of the Shipowning companies that were assumed by the buyers. A gain from the disposal of
subsidiaries of $1,591 was recognized, which is included in the Company�s consolidated statement of comprehensive
income/ (loss).

20. Other Non Current Liabilities
On October 1, 2010, the Company entered into a bareboat charter agreement to lease vessel M/T Delos until
September 30, 2015 for a variable rate per year. On October 15, 2011 the Company terminated the bareboat
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charter agreement resulting in a termination expense of $5,750 included in �Lease Termination Expense� in the
accompanying consolidated statements of comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ended December 31, 2011. As of
December 31, 2012, the outstanding amount of the termination fee was $5,306 (see Note 8).

On January 1, 2013 the Company entered into an agreement with the owner of M/T Delos by which the termination
fee outstanding as of December 31, 2012 was divided into two tranches, �Tranche A� ($4,500) that bears interest of 3%
plus Libor and �Tranche B� ($806) that doesn�t bear interest. This agreement provides for the repayment of Tranche A
and Tranche B according to the following schedule.

Year ending December 31,

Tranche A
of the

Termination
Fee

Tranche
B

of the
Termination

Fee
2014 800
2015 800
2016 800
2017 1,500 806

3,900 806
Finally, according to this agreement the Company pays monthly interest payments. As of December 31, 2013 the
non-current part of the termination fee is $3,906.

21. Subsequent Events
On February 6, 2014 the Company agreed to cancel the MOA that it had entered into on December 16, 2013 and
entered into a new MOA to purchase another 50,000 dwt newbuilding product/chemical tanker with a time charter
from an entity also affiliated with the Company�s President, Chief Executive Officer and Director, Evangelos J.
Pistiolis, scheduled for delivery from Hyundai Mipo Dockyard Co., Ltd. in May 2014. This cancellation didn�t entail
any penalties. The purchase price of the newbuilding is $38,300 payable as follows: $7,400 already paid on
December 16, 2013 for the purchase of the vessel we agreed on in December 16, 2013, which as of December 31,
2013 is recorded under �Advances for Vessels Acquisitions� (see Note 5), $3,500 payable in cash in February 2014 and
$27,400 option on delivery of the vessel.

On March 17, 2014, the Company agreed to cancel the MOA that it had entered into on December 5, 2013 (see Note
5).

On March 19, 2014, pursuant to four separate share purchase agreements the Company entered into with affiliates of
the Company�s CEO, along with unaffiliated third parties, the Company acquired the five vessel-owning companies
which are party to the shipbuilding contracts for Hull Nos. S407, S418, S419, S414 and S417, in exchange for a total
consideration of $43,300, paid in the form of $2,500 in cash and 5,833,214 newly-issued common shares. Pursuant to
the share purchase agreements the Company acquired:

�
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100% of the share capital of Monte Carlo 37 Shipping Company Limited and Monte Carlo One Shipping
Company Limited, entities affiliated with the Company�s CEO, which are party to shipbuilding contracts with
Hyundai Mipo Dockyard Co. for the construction of Hull No. S418, a 39,000 dwt newbuilding
product/chemical tanker scheduled for delivery in the third quarter of 2015, and Hull No. S407, a 50,000 dwt
newbuilding product/chemical tanker scheduled for delivery in the first quarter of 2015, respectively, for an
aggregate purchase price of $14,693. Monte Carlo 37 Shipping Company Limited and Monte Carlo One
Shipping Company Limited are each party to a time charter agreement to commence upon the respective
vessel�s delivery. Upon its delivery Hull No. S407 will enter into a time charter for 2 years at a rate of
$16,000 per day. The charterer has the option to extend the charter for an additional year at a rate of $17,250
per day. Upon its delivery Hull No. S418 will enter into a time charter with for 3 years at a rate of $15,200
per day. The charterer has the option
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to extend the charter for an additional year at a rate of $16,000 per day and another year after that at a rate of
$16,750 per day. Concurrently, the Company agreed to terminate the MOA entered into on December 5,
2013, described above, with Monte Carlo 37 Shipping Company Limited for the acquisition of Hull S418,
and to apply the full amount of the deposit paid under the MOA, in the amount of $7,000, to reduce the
purchase price under the share purchase agreement.

� 100% of the share capital of Monte Carlo Seven Shipping Company Limited, an entity affiliated with the
Company�s CEO, which is party to a shipbuilding contract with Hyundai Mipo Dockyard Co. for the
construction of Hull S414, a 50,000 dwt newbuilding product/chemical tanker scheduled for delivery in the
second quarter of 2016, for a purchase price of $10,990.

� 100% of the share capital of Monte Carlo LAX Shipping Company Limited, an entity affiliated with the
Company�s CEO, which is party to a shipbuilding contract with Hyundai Mipo Dockyard Co. for the
construction of Hull S417, a 50,000 dwt newbuilding product/chemical tanker scheduled for delivery in the
third quarter of 2016, for a purchase price of $10,820. The Company will have an option up to January 2015
to fix either S414 or S417 to the same charterer on the same terms as S406 and S407. The time charter
agreement is to commence upon the vessel�s delivery.

� 100% of the share capital of Monte Carlo 39 Shipping Company Limited, an entity affiliated with the
Company�s CEO, which is party to a shipbuilding contract with Hyundai Mipo Dockyard Co. for the
construction of Hull S419, a 39,000 dwt newbuilding product/chemical tanker scheduled for delivery in the
first quarter of 2016, for a purchase price of $6,830. Monte Carlo 39 Shipping Company Limited is party to a
time charter agreement to commence upon the vessel�s delivery.

The Company�s President, CEO and Director, Evangelos J. Pistiolis, owned the majority of the shares of each of the
vessel-owning companies that the Company acquired pursuant to these share purchase agreements. Pursuant to the
share purchase agreements with respect to Hull Nos. S407, S418, S419 and S417, until September 19, 2014, the
Company will have the right to buy back 2,046,342 common shares issued to the unaffiliated parties to the agreements
at a price of $8.40 per share.

On February 24, 2014, at a Special Meeting of Shareholders, our shareholders approved a proposal authorizing our
Board of Directors to effect a reverse stock split of our issued and outstanding common shares by a ratio of not less
than one-for-two and not more than one-for-twenty with the exact ratio to be set at a whole number within this range
to be determined by the Board of Directors in its discretion. On April 2, 2014 our Board of Directors determined to
effect a one-for-seven reverse stock split of our common stock. The reverse stock split was effected on April 21, 2014
and as a result of the reverse stock split, the number of outstanding shares as at December 31, 2013 decreased to
2,469,648 while the par value of our common shares remained unchanged at $0.01 per share. All share and per share
amounts in this document has been retroactively adjusted to reflect this stock split.
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Warrants to Purchase 3,312,500 Common Shares
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PART II: INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN THE PROSPECTUS

Item 6. Indemnification of Directors and Officers
The By-Laws of the Registrant provide that any person who is or was a director or officer of the Registrant, or is or
was serving at the request of the Registrant as a director or officer of another partnership, joint venture, trust or other
enterprise shall be entitled to be indemnified by the Registrant upon the same terms, under the same conditions, and to
the same extent as authorized by Section 60 of the Business Corporation Act of the Republic of The Marshall Islands,
if he acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the
Registrant, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe his conduct was
unlawful.

There is currently no pending material litigation or proceeding involving any of our directors, officers or employees
for which indemnification is sought.

Section 60 of the BCA provides as follows:

Indemnification of directors and officers:

(1) Actions not by or in right of the corporation. A corporation shall have power to indemnify any person who was or
is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding
whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by or in the right of the corporation)
by reason of the fact that he is or was a director or officer of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of
the corporation as a director or officer of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise,
against expenses (including attorneys� fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and
reasonably incurred by him in connection with such action, suit or proceeding if he acted in good faith and in a
manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, with respect to
any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful. The termination
of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of no contest, or its
equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner
which he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, with respect to
any criminal action or proceedings, had reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was unlawful.

(2) Actions by or in right of the corporation. A corporation shall have the power to indemnify any person who was or
is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the
right of the corporation to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that he is or was a director or
officer of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request
of the corporation as a director or officer of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other
enterprise against expenses (including attorneys� fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him or in connection
with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if he acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably
believed to be in or not, opposed to the best interests of the corporation and except that no indemnification shall
be made in respect of any claims, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable
for negligence or misconduct in the performance of his duty to the corporation unless and only to the extent that
the court in which such action or suit was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication
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of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to
indemnity for such expenses which the court shall deem proper.

(3) When director or officer successful. To the extent that a director or officer of a corporation has been successful on
the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, suit or proceeding referred to in subsections (1) or (2) of this
section, or in the defense of a claim, issue or matter therein, he shall be indemnified against expenses (including
attorneys� fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection therewith.
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(4) Payment of expenses in advance. Expenses incurred in defending a civil or criminal action, suit or proceeding
may be paid in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding as authorized by the board of
directors in the specific case upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the director or officer to repay
such amount if it shall ultimately be determined that he is not entitled to be indemnified by the corporation as
authorized in this section.

(5) Indemnification pursuant to other rights. The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or
granted pursuant to, the other subsections of this section shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to
which those seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under any bylaw, agreement,
vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in his official capacity and as to
action in another capacity while holding such office.

(6) Continuation of indemnification. The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted
pursuant to, this section shall, unless otherwise provided when authorized or ratified, continue as to a person who
has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and
administrators of such a person.

(7) Insurance. A corporation shall have power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or
was a director or officer of the corporation or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director or
officer against any liability asserted against him and incurred by him in such capacity whether or not the
corporation would have the power to indemnify him against such liability under the provisions of this section.

Item 7. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities.
Please see �Certain Relationships and Related-Party Transactions�Sovereign Equity Line Transaction� and � Certain
Relationships and Related-Party Transactions�Newbuilding Acquisitions.�
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Item 8. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Exhibits
The exhibits filed as part of this registration statement are listed in the index to exhibits immediately preceding such
exhibits.

(b) Financial Statements
The financial statements are listed in the index to the financial statements immediately preceding such financial
statements, which index to the financial statements is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9. Undertakings
The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that:

(1) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors,
officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant
has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against
public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for
indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a
director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding)
is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the
registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to
a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as
expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

(2) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, the information omitted from the form
of prospectus filed as part of this registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of
prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b) (1) or (4) or 497(h) under the Securities Act shall be
deemed to be part of this registration statement as of the time it was declared effective.

(3) For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each post-effective amendment that
contains a form of prospectus shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered
therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the Registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to
believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form F-1 and has duly caused this Registration Statement to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Athens, Country of Greece, on
June 4, 2014.

TOP SHIPS INC.
By: /s/ EVANGELOS J. PISTIOLIS

Name: EVANGELOS J. PISTIOLIS
Title:   Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and
appoints each of Evangelos J. Pistiolis, Alexandros Tsirikos, Gary J. Wolfe and Robert Lustrin his or her true and
lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full powers of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her
name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective
amendments) to this Registration Statement and any and all additional registration statements pursuant to Rule 462(b)
of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and all other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents
full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully
for all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said
attorneys-in-fact and agents or either of them or their or his or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause
to be done by virtue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Registration Statement has been signed below by the
following persons on June 4, 2014 in the capacities indicated.

Signature Title

/s/    Vangelis G. Ikonomou

Vangelis G. Ikonomou
Director, Executive Vice President and Chairman of the
Board

/s/    Evangelos J. Pistiolis

Evangelos J. Pistiolis
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal
Executive Officer)

/s/    Alexandros Tsirikos

Alexandros Tsirikos
Director and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/    Konstantinos Karelas

Konstantinos Karelas Director
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/s/    Alexandros Economou

Alexandros Economou Director
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AUTHORIZED UNITED STATES REPRESENTATIVE

Pursuant to the requirement of the Securities Act of 1933, the undersigned, the duly authorized representative in the
United States of the aforementioned Registrant, has signed this registration statement in the City of Newark, State of
Delaware, on June 4, 2014.

PUGLISI & ASSOCIATES

By: /s/ Donald J. Puglisi
Name: Donald J. Puglisi
Title:   Managing Director
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Exhibits

Number Description of Exhibits

    1.1 Form of Underwriting Agreement

    3.1 Third Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Top Ships Inc. (1)

    3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company, as adopted on February 28, 2007 (3)

    3.1 Form of Share Certificate (2)

    4.1 Form of Representative�s Warrant Agreement**

    4.2 Form of Warrant

    5.1 Opinion of Seward & Kissel LLP, United States and Marshall Islands counsel to the Company

    8.1 Opinion of Seward & Kissel LLP, with respect to certain tax matters

  10.1 Top Ships Inc. Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (4)

  10.2 Stockholders Rights Agreement with Computershare Investor Services, LLC, as Rights Agent as of
August 19, 2005 (5)

  10.3 Amendment No. 1 to the Stockholders Rights Agreement with Computershare Investor Services, LLC, as
Rights Agent, dated August 24, 2011 (7)

  10.4 Form of bareboat commercial management agreement with Central Mare Inc. (Hongbo) (6)

  10.5 Form of non-bareboat commercial management and technical management agreement with Central Mare
Inc. (Amalfi) (6)

  10.6 Form of technical management agreement with TMS Shipping Ltd. (Delos) (6)

  10.7 Form of commercial management agreement with Central Mare Inc. (Delos) (6)

  10.8 Form of commercial technical and commercial management agreement with International Ship
Management Inc. (Delos) (8)

  10.11 Shipping Financial Services Inc Credit Facility dated July 1, 2011 (8)

  10.12 Supplemental Agreement dated July 8, 2012 between Top Ships Inc. and Shipping Financial Services
Inc. to the Credit Facility dated July 1, 2011 (9)

  10.13 Central Mare Inc Credit Facility dated July 16, 2011 (8)

  10.14 Supplemental Agreement dated July 21, 2012 between Top Ships Inc. and Central Mare Inc. to the Credit
Facility dated July 16, 2011 (9)

  10.15 Common Stock Purchase Agreement with Sovereign Holdings Inc., dated as of August 24, 2011 (8)

  10.16 Registration Rights Agreement with Sovereign Holdings Inc., dated as of August 24, 2011 (8)

  10.17 Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, dated August 15, 2012 between Top Ships Inc. and Laurasia
Trading Ltd. (9)

  10.18 Addendum Number 1 dated August 15, 2012 to the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement dated
August 15, 2012 between Top Ships Inc. and Laurasia Trading Ltd. (9)
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  10.19 Stock Purchase Agreement dated September 5, 2013, between Top Ships Inc. and AMCI Products
Limited with respect to Jeke Shipping Company Limited, Warhol Shipping Company Limited, Indiana R
Shipping Company Limited and Britto Shipping Company Limited (10)

  10.20 Stock Purchase Agreement dated September 5, 2013, between Top Ships Inc. and AMCI Products
Limited with respect to Hongbo Shipping Company Limited (10)

  10.21 Stock Purchase Agreement dated September 5, 2013, between Top Ships Inc. and AMCI Products
Limited with respect to Lichtenstein Shipping Company Limited (10)
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  10.22 Amendment to Stock Purchase Agreement dated September 5, 2013, between Top Ships Inc. and AMCI
Products Limited with respect to Lichtenstein Shipping Company Limited, dated October 10, 2013 (10)

  10.23 Memorandum of Agreement dated December 5, 2013, between Top Ships Inc. and Monte Carlo 37
Shipping Company Limited (10)

  10.24 Termination of Memorandum of Agreement dated December 16, 2013, between Top Ships Inc. and Monte
Carlo One Shipping Company Limited, dated February 6, 2014 (10)

  10.25 Memorandum of Agreement dated December 16, 2013, between Top Ships Inc. and Monte Carlo One
Shipping Company Limited (10)

  10.26 Memorandum of Agreement dated February 6, 2014, between Top Ships Inc. and Million Hope Maritime
S.A. (10)

  10.27 Termination of Memorandum of Agreement dated December 5, 2013, between Top Ships Inc. and Monte
Carlo 37 Shipping Company Limited, dated March 17, 2014**

  10.28 Shipbuilding Contract for Hull S418**

  10.29 Shipbuilding Contract for Hull S407**

  10.30 Shipbuilding Contract for Hull S419**

  10.31 Shipbuilding Contract for Hull S414**

  10.32 Shipbuilding Contract for Hull S417**

  10.33 Share Purchase Agreement, dated March 19, 2014, for Hull S407 and Hull S418**

  10.34 Share Purchase Agreement, dated March 19, 2014, for Hull S419**

  10.35 Share Purchase Agreement, dated March 19, 2014, for Hull S414**

  10.36 Share Purchase Agreement, dated March 19, 2014, for Hull S417**

  10.37 Amendment No. 2 to the Stockholders Rights Agreement with Computershare Investor Services, LLC, as
Rights Agent, dated March 19, 2014**

  10.38 Loan Agreement with Shipping Financial Services, dated May 8, 2012**

  10.39 Letter Agreement with Central Mare Inc., dated July 1, 2010**

  10.40 Supplemental Agreements to Letter Agreement with Central Mare Inc., dated July 5, 2010, June 1,
2011, January 1, 2012, January 1, 2013 and October 16, 2013**

  10.41 Termination Agreement with Central Mare Inc., dated September 1, 2013**

  10.42 Letter Agreement with Central Shipping Monaco SAM, dated March 10, 2014**

  10.43 Form of Management Agreement with Central Shipping Monaco SAM**

  10.44 Addendum No. 1 to Memorandum of Agreement dated February 6, 2014, between Top Ships Inc. and
Million Hope Maritime S.A., dated April 24, 2014**

  23.1 Consent of Seward & Kissel LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1)

  23.2 Consent of Deloitte Hadjipavlou, Sofianos & Cambanis S.A.

  23.3 Consent of Drewry

  23.4 Power of Attorney (contained in signature page)
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101 The following materials formatted in eXtensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL): (i) Unaudited
Interim Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2013 and March 31, 2014; (ii)
Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three months ended
March 31, 2013 and 2014; (iii) Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders�
Equity for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2014; (iv) Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2014; (v) Notes to Unaudited
Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements; (vi) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,
2012 and 2013; (vii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income/ (Loss) for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013; (viii) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders� Equity for the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013; (ix) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013; and (x) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements**

** Previously filed
(1) Incorporated by reference to the Company�s Current Report on Form 6-K, filed on June 24, 2011
(2) Incorporated by reference to the Company�s Annual Report on Form 20-F, filed on June 29, 2009

(File No. 000-50859)
(3) Incorporated by reference to the Company�s Current Report on Form 6-K filed on March 9, 2007
(4) Incorporated by reference to the Company�s Annual Report on Form 20-F, filed on April 13, 2006

(File No. 000-50589)
(5) Incorporated by reference to the Company�s Registration Statement on Form 8-A (File No. 000-50859)
(6) Incorporated by reference to the Company�s Annual Report on Form 20-F, filed on April 12, 2011

(File No. 000-50859)
(7) Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 1 to the Company�s Registration Statement on Form 8-A (File No.

000-50859)
(8) Incorporated by reference to the Company�s Annual Report on Form 20-F, filed on April 11, 2012

(File No. 000-50859)
(9) Incorporated by reference to the Company�s Annual Report on Form 20-F, filed on May 1, 2013

(File No. 000-50859)
(10) Incorporated by reference to the Company�s Annual Report on Form 20-F, filed on February 14, 2014

(File No. 000-50859)
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